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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a
smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated
filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “‘emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition
period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes No

There were 49,459,188 shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock, par value $.001 per share, as of November
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

September
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 30, June 30,

2018 2018

(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $7,956 $6,992
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,035 and $1,703, respectively 100,444 137,578
Contract assets 27,254 —
Income tax receivable 1,073 2,105
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 8,499 6,599
Total current assets 145,226 153,274
Technology and equipment, net 19,125 18,566
Goodwill 65,389 65,389
Intangible assets, net 63,055 65,264
Deposits and other assets 1,248 2,945
Total other long-term assets 129,692 133,598
Total assets $294,043 $305,438
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 80,462 $90,153
Operating partner commissions payable 13,869 14,322
Accrued expenses 6,608 5,404
Current portion of notes payable 3,946 3,726
Current portion of contingent consideration 1,100 960
Transition and lease termination liability 1,094 1,385
Other current liabilities 259 295
Total current liabilities 107,338 116,245
Notes payable, net of current portion 41,475 43,197
Contingent consideration, net of current portion 1,380 1,615
Deferred rent liability 987 1,020
Deferred income taxes 8,297 8,665
Other long-term liabilities 367 1,082
Total long-term liabilities 52,506 55,579
Total liabilities 159,844 171,824

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
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Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; 839,200 shares issued and

outstanding, liquidation preference of $20,980 1 1
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 49,544,886 and
49,511,907

shares issued, and 49,453,088 and 49,420,109 shares outstanding, respectively 31 31
Additional paid-in capital 118,236 117,968
Treasury stock, at cost, 91,798 shares (253 ) (253 )
Retained earnings 16,071 15,539
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (119 ) 186
Total Radiant Logistics, Inc. stockholders’ equity 133,967 133,472
Non-controlling interest 232 142
Total equity 134,199 133,614
Total liabilities and equity $294,043  $305,438

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended
(In thousands, except share and per share data) September 30,

2018 2017
Revenues $218,883 $197,977
Operating expenses:
Cost of transportation and other services 164,015 152,374
Operating partner commissions 24,828 19,692
Personnel costs 14,545 13,993
Selling, general and administrative expenses 7,124 6,303
Depreciation and amortization 3,633 3,575
Transition and lease termination costs — 107
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (95 ) (300
Total operating expenses 214,050 195,744
Income from operations 4,833 2,233
Other income (expense):
Interest income 12 7
Interest expense (789 ) (771
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) 34 (85
Other 150 130
Total other expense (593 ) (719
Income before income taxes 4,240 1,514
Income tax expense 977 ) (626
Net income 3,263 888
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interest (180 ) (61
Net income attributable to Radiant Logistics, Inc. 3,083 827
Less: preferred stock dividends (511 ) (511
Net income allocable to common stockholders $2,572 $316
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation loss (305 ) (805
Comprehensive income $2,958 $83

Income per share allocable to common stockholders:

~—
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Basic and Diluted $0.05 $0.01
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 49,437,930 49,085,545
Diluted 50,705,434 50,642,953

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(unaudited)

RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands,
except share
and per share
data)

Preferred
Stock
Shares AmoShares
Balance as of
June 30, 2018
Cumulative
effect
adjustment,
upon adoption

839,200 $1

of ASC 606
on July 1, 2018
(Note 2)
Cumulative
effect
adjustment,
upon adoption

of ASU
2016-16 on July
1, 2018 (Note
2) —
Share-based
compensation
Issuance of
common stock
upon exercise

of stock
options
Preferred
dividends paid

32,979

Common Stock

49,420,109 $31

Additional
Paid-in
Amou@tpital

$117,968 $(253) $15,539

(335

(1,705

331

63 )

(511

Stock Earnings (Loss) Equity

)

)

)

Total Radiant
Accumulasgdbtics,
Other

Inc. Non-

TreasuryRetained CompreBe¢askimlder€ontrolliagl

Income
InterestEquity

$186 $133,472 $142 $133,614

— (335 ) — (335
— (1,705 ) — (1,705
— 331 — 331
— (63 ) — (63
— ¢11r ) — (511

)

)

)
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Distribution to
non-controlling

interest — — — — — — — — — 90) (90 )
Net income — — — — — 3,083 — 3,083 180 3,263
Other

comprehensive

loss — — — — = — — (305) (305 ) — 305 )
Balance as of

September 30,

2018 839,200 $1 49,453,088 $31 $118,236 $(253) $16,071 $(119) $133,967 $232 $134,199

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited)

Three Months

Ended September
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 30,

2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $3,263 $888
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED
FOR) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
share-based compensation 331 350
amortization of intangible assets 2,472 2,494
depreciation and amortization of technology and equipment 1,161 1,081
deferred income tax benefit 253 ) (512 )
amortization of debt issuance costs 59 62
change in fair value of contingent consideration 95 ) (300 )
transition and lease termination costs — 107
gain on disposal of technology and equipment a6 ) 4 )
change in allowance for doubtful accounts 332 231
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:
accounts receivable 4,440 (6,592)
contract assets 6,759 —
income tax receivable 1,055 (233 )
prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets (1,876) 692
accounts payable (5,488) (939 )
operating partner commissions payable 506 623
accrued expenses (5,761) 503
other liabilities (742 ) 473
deferred rent liability 29 ) 112
transition and lease termination liability 276 ) (213 )
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 5,842 1,177)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments to acquire businesses — (1,025)
Purchases of technology and equipment (1,134) (1,383)
Proceeds from sale of technology and equipment 232 41
Net cash used for investing activities 902 ) (2,367)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from (repayments to) credit facility, net (2,003) 4,975
Payments of debt issuance costs — @87 )
Repayments of notes payable (843 ) (835 )
Payments of preferred stock dividends (511 ) (511 )

11
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Distribution to non-controlling interest 90 ) —
Payments of employee tax withholdings related to cashless exercise of stock options o3 ) (2 )
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities (3,510) 3,540
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 466 ) 37 )
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 964 41 )
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 6,992 5,808
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $7,956 $5,767
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Income taxes paid $178 $1,404
Interest paid $735 $701

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)

(unaudited)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
In September 2017, the Company issued 10,019 shares of common stock at a fair value of $4.99 per share in
satisfaction of $50 of the Sandifer-Valley Transportation & Logistics, Ltd. Purchase price, resulting in an increase to

common stock and additional paid-in capital of $50.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company acquired $812 of refrigerated trailers financed
through a capital lease.

In September 2018, $262 was recorded as an increase to accrued expenses and intangible assets for the purchase of a
customer list.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

13
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

NOTE 1 - THE COMPANY AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Company

Radiant Logistics, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company’’) operates as a third-party logistics company,
providing multi-modal transportation and logistics services primarily to customers based in the United States and
Canada. The Company services a large and diversified account base which it supports from an extensive multi-brand
network of over 100 operating locations (including 20 Company-owned offices) across North America as well as an
integrated international service partner network located in other key markets around the globe. As a third-party
logistics company, the Company has a carrier network of approximately 10,000 asset-based transportation companies,
including motor carriers, railroads, airlines and ocean lines. The Company believes shippers value its services because
it is able to objectively arrange the most efficient and cost-effective means, type and provider of transportation service
since it is not influenced by the ownership of transportation assets. In addition, the Company’s minimal investment in
physical assets affords it the opportunity for a higher return on invested capital and net cash flows than the Company’s
asset-based competitors.

Through its operating locations across North America, the Company offers domestic and international air and ocean
freight forwarding services and freight brokerage services including truckload services, less than truckload services;
and intermodal services, which is the movement of freight in trailers or containers by combination of truck and rail.
The Company’s primary transportation services involve arranging shipments, on behalf of its customers, of materials,
products, equipment and other goods that are generally larger than shipments handled by integrated carriers of
primarily small parcels, such as FedEx, DHL and UPS, including arranging and monitoring all aspects of material
flow activity utilizing advanced information technology systems. The Company also provides other value added
supply chain services, including order fulfillment, inventory management, and warehouse and distribution services
(collectively, “MM&D” services), and customs brokerage services to complement its core transportation service
offering.

The Company expects to grow its business organically and by completing acquisitions of other companies with
complementary geographical and logistics service offerings. The Company’s organic growth strategy will continue to
focus on strengthening existing and expanding new customer relationships leveraging the benefit of the Company’s
truck brokerage and intermodal service offerings, while continuing its efforts on the organic build-out of the
Company’s network of strategic operating partner locations. In addition, as the Company continues to grow and scale
its business, the Company believes that it is creating density in its trade lanes which creates opportunities for the
Company to more efficiently source and manage its transportation capacity.

In addition to its focus on organic growth, the Company will continue to search for acquisition candidates that bring
critical mass from a geographic and purchasing power standpoint, along with providing complementary service
offerings to the current platform. As the Company continues to grow and scale its business, it also remains focused on
leveraging its back-office infrastructure and technology systems to drive productivity improvement across the

14
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organization.
Interim Disclosure

The condensed consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared, without audit, pursuant to the
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Certain information and footnote disclosures
normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The Company’s management
believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. These condensed
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the

notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2018.

The interim period information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q reflects all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring adjustments, that are, in the opinion of the Company’s management, necessary for a fair statement of
the results of the respective interim periods. Results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of
results to be expected for an entire year.

15
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NOTE 2 - RECENT ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE
Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2018-15 (Subtopic 350-40), Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software - Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract. This ASU aligns the
accounting for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the
accounting for implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. ASU 2018-15 is effective for
the Company in the first quarter of fiscal year 2021, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is assessing the
impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement (ASU 2018-13), which modifies the
disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. ASU 2018-13 is effective for the Company in the first quarter of
fiscal 2021, and earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of this guidance on its

consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016 and July 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2016-02 (ASC Topic 842),
Leases ASU 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, and Leases, ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842),
Target improvements, respectively. These ASUs amend a number of aspects of lease accounting, including requiring
lessees to recognize operating leases with a term greater than one year on their balance sheet as a right-of-use asset
and corresponding lease liability, measured at the present value of the lease payments. Topic 842 is effective for the
Company in the first quarter of fiscal year 2020. Companies are required to use a modified retrospective approach on
adoption, with the option of applying the requirements of the standard either (1) retrospectively to each prior
comparative reporting period presented, or (2) retrospectively at the beginning of the period of adoption, through a
cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the standard on
its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02 (Topic 220), Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income:
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. This ASU was issued
following the enactment of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) and permits entities to elect a
reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting
from the Tax Act. Topic 220 is effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal year 2020, and early adoption is
permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

ASC 606 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

On July 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and all subsequent
amendments to the ASU (collectively, “ASC 606”) which superseded existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S.
GAAP. The core principle of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606 is for an entity to recognize revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to its customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard also requires more detailed

16
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disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of an
entity’s revenues and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

The Company adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts not completed as
of July 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after July 1, 2018 are presented under ASC 606 while prior
period amounts continue to be reported in accordance with ASC 605. The Company recorded a cumulative effect
adjustment of $335, net of tax, to decrease the opening balance of retained earnings as of July 1, 2018, for the initial
application of ASC 606. The transition adjustment includes primarily certain transportation services transactions with
customers that required a change in the timing of when revenue is recognized. The corresponding direct costs of
revenue, including primarily purchased transportation costs and commissions, have been expensed as incurred. The
Company satisfied a significant majority of the performance obligations for contract liabilities recorded upon the
adoption and recognized the corresponding revenues and related direct costs of revenue during the three months ended
September 30, 2018.

As stated, the comparative prior period information for the three months ended September 30, 2017 has not been
adjusted and continues to be reported under the Company’s historical revenue recognition policies as described in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 13, 2018.

The details of the significant changes and quantitative impact on the financial statement line items in the consolidated
balance sheet as of July 1, 2018 for the adoption of ASC 606 were as follows:

17
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Balance

as of Balance

June 30, Transition as of July
(In thousands) 2018 Adjustments 1, 2018
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts $137,578 $ (32,689 ) $104,889
Contract assets — 34,014 34,014
Liabilities
Accounts payable 90,153 (3,995 ) 86,158
Operating partner commissions payable 14,322 (959 ) 13,363
Contract liabilities — 6,716 6,716
Deferred income taxes 8,665 (102 ) 8,563
Equity
Retained earnings 15,539 (335 ) 15,204

The tables below summarize the impacts of the application of ASC 606 as compared with ASC 605, the guidance that
was in effect before the change on the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2018:

Three Months Ended September

30, 2018
Adjustments Balance,

As for ASC
(In thousands, except per share data) Reported 606 ASC 605
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
Revenues $218,883 $ (3,152 ) $215,731
Operating expenses:
Cost of transportation and other services 164,015 (2,917 ) 161,098
Operating partner commissions 24,828 (156 ) 24,672
Personnel costs 14,545 — 14,545
Selling, general and administrative expenses 7,124 — 7,124
Depreciation and amortization 3,633 — 3,633
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 95 ) — 95 )
Total operating expenses 214,050 (3,073 ) 210,977
Income from operations 4,833 (79 ) 4,754
Total other expense %93 ) — 593 )
Income before income taxes 4,240 (79 ) 4,161
Income tax expense o977 ) 19 958 )

18
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Net income 3,263 (60
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (180 ) —
Net income attributable to Radiant Logistics, Inc. 3,083 (60
Less: preferred stock dividends G11 ) —
Net income allocable to common stockholders $2,572 $ (60

Income per share allocable to common stockholders

- Basic and Diluted $0.05 $ —

) 3,203

(180

) 3,023
(511

) $2,512

$0.05

)

)
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September 30, 2018
Adjustments Balance,

As for ASC
(In thousands) Reported 606 ASC 605
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets
Accounts receivable, net of allowance $100,444 $ 24,102 $124,546
Contract assets 27,254 27,254 ) —
Liabilities
Accounts payable 80,462 (2,917 ) 77,545
Operating partner commissions payable 13,869 (156 ) 13,713
Accrued expenses 6,608 — 6,608
Deferred income taxes 8,297 (19 ) 8,278
Equity
Retained earnings 16,071 (60 ) 16,011

The adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact on the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for
the three months ended September 30, 2018.

The disclosure requirements of ASC 606 are included within the Company’s revised revenue recognition accounting
policy in Note 3 below.

ASU 2016-16 — Income Taxes

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other
than Inventory, which provides for the recognition of the income tax consequences on intra-entity asset transfers other
than inventory when the transfer occurs.

On July 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2016-16 using the modified retrospective method. The Company
recorded a cumulative-effect adjustment of $1,705 directly to the beginning balance of retained earnings and deposits
and other assets as of July 1, 2018. The adjustment reflects the recognition of the income tax consequence on the
intra-entity transfer of stock of a subsidiary that occurred in a prior year. Under the modified retrospective method, the
prior periods in a financial report do not have to be adjusted to reflect the new accounting requirements.

NOTE 3 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Radiant Logistics, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries as well as a single variable interest entity, Radiant Logistics Partners, LLC (“RLP”), which is 40% owned
by Radiant Global Logistics, Inc. (“RGL”), and 60% owned by Radiant Capital Partners, LLC (“RCP”, see Note 10), an
entity owned by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated.

20
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Non-controlling interest in the condensed consolidated balance sheets represents the minority stockholders’
proportionate share of equity in such subsidiary. Consolidated net income (loss) is allocated to the Company and
non-controlling interest (minority stockholder) in proportion to their percentage ownership.

b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the inherent
uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods may be based upon amounts that
could differ from these estimates.

¢)Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times, may exceed federally-insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.

11
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d) Accounts Receivable

The Company’s receivables are recorded when billed and represent amounts owed by third-party customers, as well as
amounts owed by strategic operating partners. The carrying value of the Company’s receivables, net of the allowance
for doubtful accounts, represents their estimated net realizable value. The Company evaluates the collectability of
accounts receivable on a customer-by-customer basis. The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts to
reduce the net recognized receivable to an amount the Company believes will be reasonably collected. The allowance
for doubtful accounts is determined from the analysis of the aging of the accounts receivables, historical experience
and knowledge of specific customers.

The Company derives a substantial portion of its revenue through independently-owned strategic operating partner
locations operating under various Company brands. Each strategic operating partner is responsible for some or all of
the collection of the accounts related to the underlying customers being serviced by such strategic operating partner.
To facilitate this arrangement, based on contractual agreements, certain strategic operating partners are required to
maintain a bad debt reserve in the form of a security deposit with the Company. The Company charges each strategic
operating partner’s bad debt reserve account for any accounts receivable aged beyond 90 days along with any other
amounts owed to the Company by strategic operating partners. However, the bad debt reserve account may carry a
deficit balance when amounts charged to this reserve account exceed amounts otherwise available. In these
circumstances, a deficit bad debt reserve account is recognized as a receivable in the Company’s financial statements.
Some strategic operating partners are not required to establish a bad debt reserve; however, they are still responsible to
make up for any deficits and the Company may withhold all or a portion of future commissions payable to the
strategic operating partner to satisfy any deficit balance. Currently, a number of the Company’s strategic operating
partners have a deficit balance in their bad debt reserve accounts. The Company expects to replenish these funds
through the future business operations of these strategic operating partners or as their customers satisfy the amounts
payable to the Company. However, to the extent any of these strategic operating partners were to cease operations or
otherwise be unable to replenish these deficit accounts, the Company would be at risk of loss for any such amounts
and therefore has reserved for them.

e) Technology and Equipment

Technology and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and
amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Upon
retirement or other disposition of these assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are
removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is reflected in other income or expense. Expenditures
for maintenance, repairs and renewals of minor items are expensed as incurred. Major renewals and improvements are
capitalized.

) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess acquisition cost of an acquired entity over the estimated fair values assigned to the net
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired. The Company typically performs its annual goodwill impairment

test effective as of April 1 of each year or more frequently if facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount

may not be recoverable.

An entity has the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the
fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount prior to performing a quantitative impairment test. The
qualitative assessment evaluates various factors, such as macro-economic conditions, industry and market conditions,
cost factors, relevant events and financial trends that may impact the fair value of the reporting unit. If it is determined
that the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is more-likely-than-not less than its carrying amount, including
goodwill, a quantitative assessment is required. Otherwise, no further analysis is required.

22



Edgar Filing: RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC - Form 10-Q

If a quantitative assessment is performed, a reporting unit’s fair value is compared to its carrying value. A reporting
unit’s fair value is determined based upon consideration of various valuation methodologies, including the income
approach, which utilizes projected future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risks involved, and
multiples of current and future earnings. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value;
however, the loss recognized cannot exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. As of
September 30, 2018, management believes there are no indications of impairment.

12
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g)Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as technology and equipment, and definite-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group to be tested for possible impairment, the
Company compares the undiscounted expected future cash flows to be generated by that asset or asset group to its
carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted
cash flow basis, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the asset or asset group
exceeds the fair value. Fair values of long-lived assets are determined through various techniques, such as applying
probability weighted, expected present value calculations to the estimated future cash flows using assumptions a
market participant would utilize, or through the use of a third-party independent appraiser or valuation specialist.

Management has performed a review of all long-lived assets and has determined no impairment of the respective
carrying value has occurred as of September 30, 2018. Intangibles consist of customer related intangibles, trade names
and trademarks, and non-compete agreements arising from the Company’s acquisitions. Customer related intangibles
are amortized using the straight-line method over a period of up to 10 years, trademarks and trade names are
amortized using the straight-line method over 15 years, and non-compete agreements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the term of the underlying agreements.

h) Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business acquisitions using the acquisition method as required by FASB ASC Topic 805,
Business Combinations. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, including identifiable
intangible assets, are recorded based upon their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The excess of the
purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. Acquisition expenses are expensed as incurred. While the Company uses its best estimates and
assumptions to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date, the estimates are
inherently uncertain and subject to refinement.

The fair values of intangible assets are estimated using a discounted cash flow approach with Level 3 inputs. The
estimate of fair value of an intangible asset is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows (excess
earnings) attributable solely to the intangible asset over its remaining useful life. To estimate fair value, the Company
uses risk-adjusted cash flows discounted at rates considered appropriate given the inherent risks associated with each
type of asset. The Company believes the level and timing of cash flows appropriately reflects market participant
assumptions.

For acquisitions that involve contingent consideration, the Company records a liability equal to the fair value of the
contingent consideration obligation as of the acquisition date. The Company determines the acquisition date fair value
of the contingent consideration based on the likelihood of paying the additional consideration. The fair value is
estimated using projected future operating results and the corresponding future earn-out payments that can be earned
upon the achievement of specified operating objectives and financial results by acquired companies using Level 3
inputs and the amounts are then discounted to present value. These liabilities are measured quarterly at fair value, and
any change in the fair value of the contingent consideration liability is recognized in the condensed consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. Amounts are generally due annually on November 1%, and 90 days following
the quarter of the final earn-out period of each respective acquisition.

During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company records
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding adjustment to goodwill. Upon the
conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed,
whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recognized in the consolidated financial statements of
comprehensive income.
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i)Revenue Recognition (Effective July 1, 2018)

The Company’s revenues are primarily from transportation services which includes providing for the arrangement of
freight, both domestically and internationally, through modes of transportations such as air freight, ocean freight,
truckload, less than truckload and intermodal. The Company generates its transportation services revenue by
purchasing transportation from direct carriers and reselling those services to its customers.

In general, each shipment transaction or service order constitutes a separate contract with the customer. A
performance obligation is created once a customer agreement with an agreed upon transaction price exists. The
transaction price is typically fixed and not contingent upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of any other event. The
transaction price is generally due 30 to 45 days from the date of invoice. The Company’s transportation transactions
provide for the arrangement of the movement of freight to a customer’s destination. The transportation services,
including certain ancillary services, such as loading/unloading, freight insurance and customs clearance, that is
provided to the customer as a single performance obligation. These performance obligations are satisfied and
recognized in revenue upon the transfer of control of the services over the requisite transit period as the customer’s
goods move from origin to destination. The Company determines the period to recognize revenue in transit is based
upon the departure date and the delivery date, which may be estimated if delivery has not occurred as of the reporting
date. Determination of the transit period and the percentage of completion of the shipment as of the reporting date
requires management to make judgments that affect the timing of

13
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revenue recognition. The Company has determined that revenue recognition over the transit period provides a
reasonable estimate of the transfer of services to its customers as it depicts the pattern of the Company’s performance
under the contracts with its customers.

The Company also provides warehouse and distribution logistics services for its customers under contracts generally
ranging from a few months to five years and include renewal provisions. These warehouse and distribution logistics
services contracts provide for inventory management, order fulfilment and warehousing of the Customer’s product and
arrangement of transportation of the customer’s product. The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied over
time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the services provided by the Company as it performs. The
transaction price is based on the consideration specified in the contract with the customer and contains fixed and
variable consideration. In general, the fixed consideration component of a contract represents reimbursement for
facility and equipment costs incurred to satisfy the performance obligation and is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the contract. The variable consideration component is comprised of cost reimbursement per unit
pricing for time and pricing for materials used and is determined based on cost plus a mark-up for hours of services
provided and materials used and is recognized over time based on the level of activity volume.

Other services include primarily customs clearance services performed as a single performance obligation. The
Company recognizes revenue from this performance obligation at a point in time which is the completion of the
services. Duties and taxes collected from the customer and paid to the customs agent on behalf of the customers are
excluded from revenue.

The Company uses independent contractors and third-party carriers in the performance of its transportation services.
The Company evaluates who controls the transportation services to determine whether its performance obligation is to
transfer services to the customer or to arrange for services to be provided by another party. The Company determined
it acts as the principal for its transportation services performance obligation since it is in control of establishing the
prices for the specified services, managing all aspects of the shipments process and assuming the risk of loss for
delivery and collection. Such transportation services revenue is presented on a gross basis in the statement of
comprehensive income.

A summary of the Company’s gross revenues disaggregated by major service lines and geographic markets (reportable
segments), and timing of revenue recognition for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was as follows:

United Corporate/
(In thousands) States Canada Eliminations Total
Major Service Lines:
Transportation services $188,249 $22,936 $ (48 ) $211,137
Value added services (1) 2,969 4,777 — 7,746
Total $191,218 $27,713 $ (48 ) $218,883
Timing of Revenue Recognition:
Services transferred over time $190,536 $27,713 $ (48 ) $218,201
Services transferred at a point in time 682 — — 682
Total $191,218 $27,713 $ (48 ) $218,883

(MValue added services includes warehouse and distribution services, and other services.
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Practical Expedients

The Company has elected to not disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the period as the Company’s contracts with its transportation customers
have an expected duration of one year or less.

For the performance obligation to transfer warehouse and distribution services in contracts with customers, revenue is
recognized in the amount for which the Company has the right to invoice the customer, as this amount corresponds
directly with the value provided to the customer for the Company’s performance completed to date.

The Company also applies the practical expedient that permits the recognition of employee sales commissions related
to transportation services as an expense when incurred since the amortization period of such costs is less than one
year. These costs are included in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Contract Assets

Contract assets represent amounts for which the Company has the right to consideration for the services provided
while a shipment is still in-transit but for which it has not yet completed the performance obligation or has not yet
invoiced the customer. Upon completion of the performance obligations, which can vary in duration based upon the
method of transport and billing the customer, these amounts become classified within accounts receivable.

14
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Operating Partner Commissions

The Company enters into contractual arrangements with independent agents that operate, on behalf of the Company,
an office in a specific location that engages primarily in arranging, domestic and international, transportation services.
In return, the independent agent is compensated through the payment of sales commissions which are based on
individual shipments. The Company accrues the independent agent’s commission obligation ratably as the goods are
transferred to the customer.

j)Defined Contribution Savings Plans

The Company has an employee savings plan under which the Company provides safe harbor matching contributions.
The Company’s contributions under the plan were $223 and $195 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

k)Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible
temporary differences and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary
differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more-likely-than-not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the
effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

The Company records a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain income tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in an income tax return. Interest and penalties, if any, are recorded as a component of interest
expense or other expense, respectively.

) Share-Based Compensation

The Company grants restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and stock options to certain directors, officers and
employees. The Company accounts for share-based compensation as equity awards such that compensation cost is
measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is expensed ratably over the vesting period. The
fair value of restricted stock is the market price as of the grant date, and the fair value of each stock option grant is
estimated as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of share-based
awards at the grant date requires judgment about, among other things, stock volatility, the expected life of the award,
and other inputs. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. The Company issues new shares of common
stock to satisfy exercises and vesting of awards granted under its stock plans.

m)Basic and Diluted Income per Share Allocable to Common Stockholders

Basic income per common share is computed by dividing net income allocable to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted income per common share is computed by dividing
net income allocable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, plus
the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the potential common shares, such as
restricted stock awards and stock options, had been issued and were considered dilutive. Net income allocable to
common stockholders is after consideration for preferred stock dividends, whether or not declared.

n)Foreign Currency Translation

For the Company’s foreign subsidiaries that prepare financial statements in currencies other than U.S. dollars, the local
currency is the functional currency. All assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates and all income
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statement amounts are translated at the weighted average rates for the period. Translation adjustments are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income. Gains and losses on transactions of monetary items denominated in a
foreign currency are recognized in other income (expense) in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

o)Reclassifications of Previously Issued Financial Statements

Certain amounts for prior periods have been reclassified in the condensed consolidated financial statements to
conform to the current year presentation.
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NOTE 4 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

The computations of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted income per share are as follows:

Three Months Ended
(In thousands, except share data) September 30,

2018 2017
Numerator:
Net income attributable to Radiant Logistics, Inc. $3,083 $827
Less: preferred stock dividends (511 ) (511 )
Net income allocable to common stockholders $2,572 $316
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 49,437,930 49,085,545
Dilutive effect of share-based awards 1,267,504 1,557,408

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted 50,705,434 50,642,953

Potentially dilutive common shares excluded 1,051,488 1,102,731

NOTE 5 - BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

On September 1, 2017, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, RGL, acquired the operations and assets of
Sandifer-Valley Transportation & Logistics, Ltd., a Texas based company providing a full range of domestic and
international cross-border services with Mexico. The Company has structured the transaction similar to previous
acquisitions, with a portion of the expected purchase price payable in subsequent periods based on future performance
of the acquired operation. The consideration paid, purchase price allocation, and pro forma results of operations and
other disclosures have not been presented because the effect of this acquisition was not material to the financial
statements. The results of operations for the business acquired are included in the financial statements as of the date of
purchase.

NOTE 6 - TECHNOLOGY AND EQUIPMENT

September

(In thousands) 30, June 30,

Useful Life 2018 2018
Computer software 3-S5years $16,445 $15,842
Trailers and related equipment 3-15years 6,856 6,362
Office and warehouse equipment 3-15years 3,342 3,205
Leasehold improvements (1) 3,316 3,155
Computer equipment 3-15years 2,336 2,210
Furniture and fixtures 3-15years 973 919
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33,268 31,693
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (14,143 ) (13,127)

$19,125  $18,566

() The cost is amortized over the shorter of the lease term or useful life.

Depreciation and amortization expense related to technology and equipment was $1,161 and $1,081 for the three
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Computer software includes approximately $159 and
$1,168 of software currently in development as of September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 7 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consisted of the following as of September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018, respectively:

(In thousands) September 30, 2018

Weighted
Average Gross

Amortization Carrying

Period Amount
Customer related 5.8 years $96,778
Trade names and trademarks 11.3 years 14,977
Covenants not to compete 1.5 years 875
$112,630

(In thousands) June 30, 2018

Weighted
Average Gross

Amortization Carrying

Period Amount
Customer related 6.1 years $96,515
Trade names and trademarks 11.6 years 14,977
Covenants not to compete 1.7 years 875
$112,367

Amortization expense amounted to $2,472 and $2,494 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Future amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years ending June 30 are as follows:

(In thousands)
2019 (remaining) $7,537

2020 9,729
2021 9,395
2022 8,841
2023 8,363

Net
Accumulated Carrying
Amortization Amount
$ (45,336 ) $51,442
(3,490 ) 11,487
(749 ) 126

$ (49,575 ) $63,055

Net
Accumulated Carrying
Amortization Amount
$ (43,140 ) $53,375
(3,236 ) 11,741
(727 ) 148

$ (47,103 ) $65,264
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NOTE 8 - NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable consist of the following:

17

September
(In thousands) 30, June 30,

2018 2018
Senior Credit Facility $19,605 $21,537
Senior Secured Loans 23,531 23,965
Other debt 3,098 2,286
Unamortized debt issuance costs (813 ) (865 )
Total notes payable 45,421 46,923
Less: current portion (3,946 ) (3,726)

Total notes payable, net of current portion $ 41,475  $43,197
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Future maturities of notes payable for each of the next five fiscal years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follows:

(In thousands)

2019 (remaining) $2,936
2020 4,141
2021 4,414
2022 24,312
2023 5,018
Thereafter 5,413

$46,234

Bank of America Credit Facility

The Company has a $75,000 senior credit facility (the “Senior Credit Facility”) with Bank of America, N.A. (the
“Lender”) on its own behalf and as agent to the other lenders named therein, currently consisting of the Bank of
Montreal (as the initial member of the syndicate under such loan), pursuant to a Second Amendment to Amended and
Restated Loan and Security Agreement. The Senior Credit Facility includes a $3,500 sublimit to support letters of
credit and matures June 14, 2022.

Borrowings accrue interest based on the Company’s average daily availability at the Lender’s base rate plus 0.25% to
0.75% or LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.75%. The Senior Credit Facility provides for advances of up to 85% of the eligible
Canadian and domestic accounts receivable, 75% of eligible accrued but unbilled domestic receivables and eligible
foreign accounts receivable, all of which are subject to certain sub-limits, reserves and reductions. The Senior Credit
Facility is collateralized by a first-priority security interest in all of the assets of the U.S. co-borrowers, a first-priority
security interest in all of the accounts receivable and associated assets of the Canadian co-borrowers (the “Canadian
A/R Assets”) and a second-priority security interest on the other assets of the Canadian borrowers.

Borrowings are available to fund future acquisitions, capital expenditures, repurchase of Company stock or for other
corporate purposes. The terms of the Senior Credit Facility are subject to customary financial and operational
covenants, including covenants that may limit or restrict the ability to, among other things, borrow under the Senior
Credit Facility, incur indebtedness from other lenders, and make acquisitions. As of September 30, 2018, the
Company was in compliance with all of its covenants.

As of September 30, 2018, based on available collateral and outstanding letter of credit commitments, there was
$53,400 available for borrowing under the Senior Credit Facility.

Senior Secured Loans

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Wheels International Inc. (“Wheels”), Wheels obtained a CAD$29,000
senior secured Canadian term loan from Integrated Private Debt Fund IV LP (“IPD IV”) pursuant to a CAD$29,000,000
Credit Facilities Loan Agreement. The Company and its U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries are guarantors of the Wheels
obligations thereunder. The loan matures on April 1, 2024 and accrues interest at a rate of 6.65% per annum. The
Company is required to maintain five months interest in a debt service reserve account to be controlled by IPD IV.

The amount of approximately $600 is recorded as deposits and other assets in the accompanying condensed
consolidated financial statements. The Company made interest-only payments for the first 12 months followed by
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monthly principal and interest payments of CAD$390 that will be paid through maturity.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Lomas, Wheels obtained a CAD$10,000 senior secured Canadian
term loan from Integrated Private Debt Fund V LP pursuant to a CAD$10,000,000 Credit Facilities Loan Agreement.
The Company and its U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries are guarantors of the Wheels obligations thereunder. The loan
matures on June 1, 2024 and accrues interest at a fixed rate of 6.65% per annum. The loan repayment consists of
monthly principal and interest payments of CAD$149.

The loans may be prepaid in whole at any time providing the Company gives at least 30 days prior written notice and
pays the difference between (i) the present value of the loan interest and the principal payments foregone discounted at
the Government of Canada Bond Yield for the term from the date of prepayment to the maturity date, and (ii) the face
value of the principal amount being prepaid.

The loans are collateralized by a (i) first-priority security interest in all of the assets of Wheels except the Canadian
A/R Assets, (ii) a second-priority security interest in the Canadian A/R Assets, and (iii) a second-priority security
interest on all of the Company’s assets. As of September 30, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all of its
covenants.
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Capital Lease Facility

In April 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Clipper Exxpress Company, entered into a lease
financing agreement with Bank of America Leasing & Capital, LLC, for the lease of 100 refrigerated trailers with the
aggregate acquisition cost not to exceed $5,000 through December 31, 2018. As of September 30, 2018, the Company
has financed approximately $3,098 of trailer equipment under the agreement. The term of the lease shall be 84 months
from November 30, 2018 and as lessee, the Company will be obligated to purchase the trailers at the end of the lease
for a nominal amount.

NOTE 9 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value at $0.001 per share and
100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 per share.

Series A Preferred Stock

The Company has 839,200 shares issued and outstanding of 9.75% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Shares issued and outstanding”), which have a liquidation preference of $25.00 per
share. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares are cumulative from the date of original issue and are payable on
January 31, April 30, July 31 and October 31, as and if declared by the Company’s board of directors. If the Company
does not pay dividends in full on any two payment dates (whether consecutive or not), the per annum dividend rate
will increase an additional 2.0% per annum per $25.00 stated liquidation preference, up to a maximum of 19.0% per
annum. If the Company fails to maintain the listing of the Series A Preferred Shares on the NYSE American or other
exchange for 30 days or more, the per annum dividend rate will increase by an additional 2.0% per annum so long as
the listing failure continues. The Series A Preferred Shares require the Company to maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage
Ratio of at least 2.0. If the Company is not in compliance with this ratio, then it cannot pay any dividend on its
common stock. As of September 30, 2018, the Company was in compliance with this ratio.

Commencing on December 20, 2018, the Company may redeem, at its option, the Series A Preferred Shares, in whole
or in part, at a cash redemption price of $25.00 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared).
Among other things, the Series A Preferred Shares have no stated maturity, are not subject to any sinking fund or
other mandatory redemption, and are not convertible into or exchangeable for any of the Company’s other securities.
Holders of Series A Preferred Shares generally have no voting rights, except if the Company fails to pay dividends on
the Series A Preferred Shares for six or more quarterly periods (whether consecutive or not). Under such
circumstances, holders of Series A Preferred Shares will be entitled to vote to elect two additional directors to the
Company’s board of directors, until all unpaid dividends have been paid or declared and set aside for payment. In
addition, certain changes to the terms of the Series A Preferred Shares cannot be made without the affirmative vote of
the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding Series A Preferred Shares, voting as a separate class. The Series A
Preferred Shares are senior to the Company’s common stock with respect to dividends and distributions, including
distributions upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up. The Series A Preferred Shares are listed on the NYSE
American under the symbol “RLGT-PA.”

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company’s board of directors declared and paid cash dividends to
holders of Series A Preferred Shares in the amount of $0.609375 per share, totaling $511.

Common Stock

In March 2018, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock through December 31, 2019. There have been no purchases of common stock executed under the
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repurchase program through the date of this filing. Under the stock repurchase program, the Company is authorized to
repurchase, from time-to-time, shares of its outstanding common stock in the open market at prevailing market prices
or through privately negotiated transactions as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The program
does not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific number of shares and could be suspended or terminated at
any time without prior notice.

NOTE 10 — VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

RLP is owned 40% by RGL and 60% by RCP, a company for which the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is
the sole member. RLP is a certified minority business enterprise that was formed for the purpose of providing the
Company with a national accounts strategy to pursue corporate and government accounts with diversity initiatives.
RCP’s ownership interest entitles it to a majority of the profits and distributable cash, if any, generated by RLP. The
operations of RLP are intended to provide certain benefits to the Company, including expanding the scope of services
offered by the Company and participating in supplier diversity programs not otherwise available to the Company. In
the course of evaluating and approving the ownership structure, operations and economics emanating from RLP, a
committee consisting of the independent Board member of the Company, considered, among other factors, the
significant benefits provided to the Company through association with a minority business enterprise, particularly as
many of the Company’s largest current and potential customers have a need for diversity offerings. In addition, the
committee concluded that the economic relationship with RLP was on terms no less favorable to the Company than
terms generally available from unaffiliated third-parties.

19

37



Edgar Filing: RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC - Form 10-Q

Certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not
have the sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support
from other parties are considered variable interest entities. RLP qualifies as a variable interest entity and is
consolidated in these consolidated financial statements.

RLP recorded $300 in profits, of which RCP’s distributable share was $180, for the three months ended September 30,
2018. RLP recorded $102 in profits, of which RCP’s distributable share was $61 for the three months ended September
30, 2017. The non-controlling interest recorded as a reduction of income in the condensed consolidated statements of
comprehensive income represents RCP’s distributive share.

NOTE 11 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The accounting guidance for fair value, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability category measured at fair value on
either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the reporting date.
The framework for measuring fair value consists of a three-level valuation hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value based upon whether such inputs are observable or unobservable.
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect market
assumptions made by the reporting entity. In general, fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize
observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in
markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs are unobservable
data points for the asset or liability, and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or
liability. The fair value measurement level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on one or more of the following three valuation techniques:

Market approach: Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or
comparable assets or liabilities;
€Cost approach: Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (replacement cost); and
dncome approach: Techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based upon market expectations,
including present value techniques, option-pricing and excess earning models.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Fair Value

Measurements

as of September
(In thousands) 30, 2018

Level

3 Total
Contingent consideration $2,480 $2,480
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Fair Value

Measurements

as of June 30,

2018

Level

3 Total
Contingent consideration $2,575 $2,575

The following table provides a reconciliation of the financial liabilities measured at fair value using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3):

Contingent
(In thousands) Consideration
Balance as of June 30, 2018 $ 2,575
Change in fair value (95 )

Balance as of September 30, 2018 $ 2,480
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The Company has contingent obligations to transfer cash payments and equity shares to former shareholders of
acquired operations in conjunction with certain acquisitions if specified operating results and financial objectives are
met over the next four fiscal years. Contingent consideration is measured quarterly at fair value, and any change in the
fair value of the contingent liability is included in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
The Company recorded decreases to contingent consideration of $95 and $300 for the three months ended September
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The change in the current period is principally attributable to a net decrease in
management’s estimates of future earn-out payments through the remainder of its earn-out periods.

The Company uses projected future financial results based on recent and historical data to value the anticipated future
earn-out payments. To calculate fair value, the future earn-out payments were then discounted using Level 3 inputs.
The Company has classified the contingent consideration as Level 3 due to the lack of relevant observable market data
over fair value inputs. The Company believes the discount rate used to discount the earn-out payments reflects market
participant assumptions. Changes in assumptions and operating results could have a significant impact on the earn-out
amount, up to a maximum of $10,980 through earn-out periods measured through August 2021, although there are no
maximums on certain earn-out payments. Contingent consideration is net of advances of earn-out payments of $530,
and includes approximately $1,100 that was earned during fiscal year 2018 and is payable November 2018.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s cash, receivables, accounts payable, commissions payable, accrued expenses,
and the income tax receivable approximate the fair values due to the relatively short maturities of these instruments.
The carrying value of the Company’s credit facility, notes payable and other long-term liabilities would not differ
significantly from fair value (based on Level 2 inputs) if recalculated based on current interest rates.

NOTE 12 — INCOME TAXES

For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, the Company’s income tax expense is
composed of the following:

Three Months
Ended
(In thousands) September 30,
2018 2017
Current income tax expense $1,230 $1,138
Deferred income tax benefit (253 ) (512 )

Income tax expense $977  $626

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017. The Act contains significant changes to the
U.S. federal income tax laws, including reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat
rate of 21%. Additionally, the Act requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign
subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred and creates a new tax on certain foreign-sourced earnings. The
Company has made a reasonable estimate of the effects on existing deferred tax balances and the one-time transition
tax, and has not recorded any adjustments to the provisional amounts. The estimated amount of the one-time transition
tax is expected to be insignificant due to the Company’s controlled foreign companies’ negative earnings and profits.
The final impact of the Act may differ due to and among other things, changes in interpretations, assumptions made,
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the issuance of additional guidance, and actions the Company may take as a result of the Act.

The Company’s effective tax rates for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 are higher than the U.S.
federal statutory rates primarily due to earnings in foreign operations and state taxes. The Company does not have any
uncertain tax positions and has a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately $2,121 due to expire primarily
through 2027 fiscal year and a foreign net operating loss carryover of approximately $1,647 due to expire through the
2038 fiscal year.

The Company and its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return. The Company
also files unitary or separate returns in various state, local, and non-U.S. jurisdictions based on state, local and
non-U.S. filing requirements. Tax years which remain subject to examination by U.S. authorities are the years ended
June 30, 2015 through June 30, 2018. Tax years which remain subject to examination by state authorities are the years
ended June 30,2014 through June 30, 2018. Tax years which remain subject to examination by non-U.S. authorities
are the periods ended December 31, 2014 through June 30, 2018. Occasionally acquired entities have tax years that
differ from the Company and are still open under the relevant statute of limitations and therefore are subject to
potential adjustment.

The Company’s Canadian Subsidiary, Wheels International, Inc., is currently under examination by the Canada
Revenue Agency for the year 2015. The amount of potential exposure, if any, is unknown and there is no reason to
believe the Company should record a reserve.

NOTE 13 - SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

21
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The Company has two stock-based plans: the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2012 Stock Option and Performance
Award Plan. Each plan authorizes the granting of up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The plans
provide for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance shares and performance units. Restricted stock awards and units are equivalent to one share of common
stock and generally vest after three years. The Company does not plan to make additional grants under the 2005 Stock
Incentive Plan.

Restricted Stock Awards

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense related to stock awards of $105 and $81 for the three
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of September 30, 2018, there was $1,234 of total
unrecognized share-based compensation cost. Such costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average

period of approximately 2.02 years.

The following table summarizes stock award activity under the plans:

Weighted
Number
of Average
Fair
Units Value
Unvested balance as of June 30, 2018 490,829 $ 3.88
Granted 64,573 4.40
Forfeited (31,574) 3.97

Unvested balance as of September 30, 2018 523,828 $ 3.94

Stock Options

Options are granted at exercise prices equal to the fair value of the common stock at the date of the grant and have a
term of 10 years. Generally, grants under each plan vest 20% annually over a five-year period from the date of grant.
The Company recognized share-based compensation expense related to stock options of $226 and $269 and for the
three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised
was $210 and $4 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. As of September 30, 2018, there was
$1,241 of total unrecognized share-based compensation cost. Such costs are expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of approximately 1.83 years.

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the plans:

Number of Weighted Weighted Aggregate
Shares Average Average Intrinsic
Value
Remaining
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Outstanding as of June 30, 2018
Exercised
Forfeited

Receivables

Inventory

Prepaid expenses and other

Deferred tax assets

Total current assets

Leasehold improvements and equipment, net
Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Revolving credit facility

Book overdraft

Trade accounts payable

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes

Income taxes payable

Current portion of deferred rent and tenant
allowances

Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current portion
Long-term deferred rent and tenant
allowances, less current portion

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Shareholders equity

Preferred stock, no par value,

20,000,000 shares authorized; none issued
and outstanding at January 31, 2004,
January 29, 2005 and July 30, 2005
(unaudited)

Common stock, no par value,

50,000,000 shares authorized; 11,305,261,
11,305,261 and 13,457,330 shares issued and
outstanding at January 31, 2004, January 29,
2005 and July 30, 2005 (unaudited),
respectively

Employee stock options

Retained earnings

Receivable from parent

Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

2,795,588
(101,709 )
(25,892 )

1,039
20,802
395
668
23,482
18,076

$ 41,558

$ 544
300
4,464
9,273
1,609
1,846

319
2,152
20,507

1,277
1,336

$ 23,120

44

18,541
(147
18,438

$ 41,558

Exercise Contractual Life

Price
$ 3.22

2.53
6.08

)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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(Years)

1,911
23,230
1,166
859
28,192
26,619

$ 54811

$

429
11,240
2,561
2,611

1,045
5,550
23,436

4,065
1,511
$ 29,012

44
95
25,808
(148
25,799

$ 54811

5.60

)

$ 578

(in
thousands)

$ 2,815
210

$1,026

4,863

42,226

2,820

1,059

68,812

30,854

$ 99,666

25,168
2,481

960
4,828
33,437

5,794
1,182
$ 40,413

32,460
177
26,616

59,253
$ 99,666

$17,844
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ZUMIEZ INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Fiscal Year One

Ended Month Ended Fiscal Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31, February 1, January 31, January 29, July 31, July 30,

2002 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005

(unaudited)
Net sales $ 101,391 $ 6392 $ 117,857 $ 153,583 $ 55444 $ 72,776
Cost of goods sold 71,017 4,575 81,320 103,152 40,212 50,154
Gross margin 30,374 1,817 36,537 50,431 15,232 22,622
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 23,404 2,013 29,076 38,422 15,639 21,332
Operating profit (loss) 6,970 (196 ) 7461 12,009 407 ) 1,290
Other income (expense) 148 8 8 2 1
Interest income (expense) (317 ) (12 ) (293 ) (250 ) (156 ) 48
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 6,801 (208 ) 7,176 11,767 (561 ) 1,339
Provision (benefit) for income
taxes 1,096 39 ) 2,701 4,500 (122 ) 531
Net income (loss) $ 5,705 $ (169 ) $ 4475 $ 7,267 $ 439 ) $ 808
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 049 $ (0.01 ) $ 040 $ 0064 $  (0.04 ) $ 007
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 042 $  (0.01 ) $ 035 $ 056 $  (0.04 ) $ 0.06
Weighted average shares
outstanding
Basic 11,547,012 11,305,261 11,305,261 11,305,261 11,305,261 12,296,076
Diluted 13,581,579 11,305,261 12,811,855 12,938,858 11,305,261 13,115,740
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

F-4
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ZUMIEZ INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS

(In thousands)

EQUITY

Common Stock

Shares
Balance at December 31, 2001 11,014
Dividends declared
Stock issued upon exercise of options 580
Stock redemption (1,645 )
Stock purchased by parent 1,356
Net income
Balance at December 31, 2002 11,305
Net loss
Balance at February 1, 2003 11,305
Cost incurred on behalf of parent
Net income
Balance at January 31, 2004 11,305
Stock based compensation
Cost incurred on behalf of parent
Net income
Balance at January 29, 2005 11,305
Common shares issued, including tax benefit
of $2.5 million (unaudited) 2,152
Stock based compensation (unaudited)
Cost incurred on behalf of parent (unaudited)
Parent receivable forgiven (unaudited)
Net income (unaudited)
Balance at July 30, 2005 (unaudited) 13,457

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

F-5

Amount

$ 43

2
6

(9}

32,416

$ 32,460

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$ 407

98

(6,549 )
6,044

$

$

Employee
Stock
Options

$

$ 95

82

$ 177

Retained
Earnings

$ 11467
(922 )

(2,015 )

5,705

$ 14,235
(169 )
$ 14,066

4,475
$ 18,541

7,267
$ 25,808

808
$ 26,616

Receivable

from

Parent
(143 )
$ (143)
$ (143)
4 )
$ (147)
(1 )
$ (148)
(1 )
149
$

Total

$ 11,917
(922 )
100

(8,570 )
5,906

5,705

$ 14,136
(169 )
$ 13,967
4 )
4,475

$ 18,438
95

(1 )
7,267

$ 25,799

32,416

82

a )
149

808

$ 59253
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ZUMIEZ INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation

Deferred tax expense

Stock compensation expense

Loss on disposal of assets

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Receivables

Inventory

Prepaid expenses

Trade accounts payable

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes
Income taxes payable

Other accrued liabilities

Deferred rent

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to leasehold improvements and
equipment

Advances (to) from shareholders

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Change in book overdraft

Borrowings on revolving credit facility
Payments on revolving credit facility
Proceeds from sale of stock

Principal payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Stock purchased by parent

Redemption of common stock

Dividends paid

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of period

End of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information

Cash paid during the period for interest
Cash paid during the period for income taxes

$

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2002

5,705

3,571
(136

13

(317
(4,194
(179
1,599

270

1,056

118
433
$

$

7,939

(7,186

(109

$
$

(7,295

2,293

20,440
(20,440

(1,087

100

6,049

922

$
$

645
$

176

6,433

7,077

7,722

302

)

)

)

One Month
Ended Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, January 31, January 29,
2003 2004 2005
$ (169 ) $ 4475 $ 7,267
332 4,185 5,857
83 804 (16
95
33 126
133 (272 ) (872
(94 ) (1,957 ) (1,456
(24 ) 79 ) (771
(2,937 ) (2,423 ) 995
(1,007 ) 449 952
(120 ) 826 765
(682 ) 564 3,397
34 370 48
$ (4451) $ 6975 $ 16,387
$ 42 ) $ (5937 ) $ (11,060 )
$ 42 ) $ (5937 ) $ (11,060 )
$ 2774 $ 1,690 $ 4,035 )
1,845 25,620 37,852
(27,165 ) (38,152
272 ) (1,087 ) (544
(7,094 )
$ (2,747) $ 942 ) $ 4879 )
$ (7,240) $ 96 $ 448
7,722 482 578
$ 482 $ 578 $ 1,026
$ 12 $ 265 $ 250
1,172 3,812

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Six Months Ended

July 31, July 30,

2004 2005

(unaudited)

$ 439 ) $ 808

2,569 3,466

(116 ) (528 )
82

3 19

(381 ) (2,952 )

(10,056 ) (13,581 )

99 ) (1,654 )

5,567 8,513

464 (80 )

(2,697 ) (2,611 )

376 (575 )

176 306

$ (4633 ) $ (8,787 )

$ 4817 ) $ (6382 )

$ 4817 ) $ (6382 )

$ d,068 ) $ (429 )

24,373 16,450

(12,044 ) (16,450 )
32,416

(544 )

$ 10,617 $ 31,987

$ 1,167 $ 16,818

578 1,026

$ 1,745 $ 17,844

$ 103 $ 59

2,752 2,605
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature and Ownership of Business and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Business Zumiez Inc. (the Company ) is a leading specialty retailer of action sports related apparel, footwear,
equipment and accessories operating under the Zumiez brand name. As of July 30, 2005, the Company operated 150
stores primarily located in shopping malls, giving the Company a presence in 18 states. The Company s stores cater to
young men and women between the ages of 12 and 24 who seek popular brands representing a lifestyle centered on
activities that include skateboarding, surfing, snowboarding, bicycle motocross (or BMX ) and motocross. The
Company supports the action sports lifestyle and promotes its brand through a multi-faceted marketing approach that

is designed to integrate its brand image with its customers activities and interests. In addition, the Company operates a
website which sells merchandise online and provides content and a community for its target customers. The Company,
based in Everett, WA, was formed in August 1978 and operates within one reportable segment.

Change in Ownership Effective November 4, 2002, 95% of the shares of the Company were transferred to Zumiez
Holdings LLC (the Parent ) in exchange for cash, the redemption of a note receivable and the creation of two notes
payable to two of the shareholders (the Transaction ). In connection with the Transaction, the Company entered into
common stock redemption agreements with two shareholders. Pursuant to the terms of the redemption agreements
with these shareholders, the Company redeemed 1,485,651 shares of its common stock held by one shareholder for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $7.7 million, which amount was paid by the Company through delivery of
a note payable for approximately $6.2 million and the cancellation of a $1.5 million note receivable and the Company
redeemed 159,095 shares of common stock held by the other shareholder for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $829,000, which amount was paid by the Company through delivery of a note payable for
approximately $829,000. Each of these notes payable have been paid in full.

Also on November 4, 2002, approximately 43% of the Parent was sold to certain affiliates (the Brentwood Affiliates ) of Brentwood Private
Equity III, LLC, a private equity firm, for approximately $25.3 million, of which approximately $17.1 million was distributed to two of the
original shareholders of the Company. The Transaction did not result in a change in the operating control of the Company. While the Brentwood
Affiliates have certain protective rights regarding their investment in the Parent, and therefore the Company, two of the Company s shareholders
continue to serve in the function of the primary operating roles of the Company Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. In fiscal 2002, 2003 and
2004 the Company paid Brentwood Private Equity III, LLC consulting fees of $31,000, $200,000 and $200,000, respectively, under a Corporate
Development and Administrative Services Agreement.

As part of the Transaction, the Company also authorized 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a no par value. Subsequent to January 1,
2003 and prior to March 1, 2004, the Company had the right to require the Brentwood Affiliates to purchase at least $5.0 million, but no more
than $10.0 million in the aggregate, of preferred stock. The Company did not exercise this right and no preferred stock was issued.

Also effective November 4, 2002, the Company terminated its Subchapter S tax election and elected to be taxed as a Subchapter C corporation
under the Internal Revenue Code. As a result, the Company has been subject to federal and state income taxes beginning as of November 4,
2002. Prior to this date, the shareholders were taxed on the earnings of the Company on their personal income tax returns, in accordance with
Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Therefore, no provision for income taxes or deferred taxes is recorded in these financial statements
for operating results through November 3, 2002. Upon the conversion to a Subchapter C corporation, the Company recorded a net deferred tax
asset of $373,000.

Fiscal Year Subsequent to December 31, 2002, the Company changed its fiscal year end from December 31 to a 52- or
53- week period ending on the Saturday closest to January 31. This fiscal calendar is widely used by the retail

industry. As a result of the change in its fiscal year end, there was a one month conversion period ended February 1,
2003. Each fiscal year now consists of four 13-week quarters, with an extra week added to the fourth quarter every

five or six years. Fiscal 2004 was the 52-week period ended January 29, 2005. Fiscal 2003 was the 52-week period
ended January 31, 2004. Fiscal 2002 was the calendar year ended December 31, 2002.

F-7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Reincorporation (unaudited) On April 29, 2005, the Company reincorporated in the State of Washington from the State of
Delaware. In connection with the reincorporation, the Company filed new articles of incorporation and adopted new
bylaws. The new articles of incorporation changed the Company s common stock from $0.01 par value per share to no
par value per share and increased the Company s authorized capital stock.

Initial Public Offering (unaudited) In May 2005, the Company completed an initial public offering of its common stock in
which the Company sold 1,875,000 shares and certain selling shareholders sold 1,718,750 shares. The Company
received net proceeds from the offering of approximately $29.7 million, after payment of underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses. The Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares of
common stock by the selling shareholders. Prior to this initial public offering, the Company was a majority owned
subsidiary of the Parent, a holding company with no operating activities. The financial position and operating results
of the Parent are not included in the Company s financial statements included in this prospectus. The Parent was
dissolved in connection with the Company s recently completed initial public offering.

Basis of Presentation The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Unaudited Interim Results

The accompanying balance sheet as of July 30, 2005, the statements of operations and the statements of cash flows for the six months ended

July 31, 2004 and July 30, 2005, and the statement of changes in stockholders equity for the six months ended July 30, 2005, are unaudited. The
unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual financial statements and, in the opinion of
management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to state fairly the Company s financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the six months ended July 31, 2004 and July 30, 2005. The financial data and other information

disclosed in these notes to the financial statements related to the six months ended July 31, 2004 and July 30, 2005 are unaudited. The results for
the six months ended July 30, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the fiscal year ending January 28, 2006 or for
any other interim period or for any future year.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Comprehensive Income Comprehensive income represents all changes in equity during a period except those resulting
from investments by and distributions to shareholders. There was no difference between net income and
comprehensive income for fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the one month period ended February 1, 2003.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates can
also affect supplemental information disclosed by the Company, including information about contingencies, risk, and
financial condition. In preparing the financial statements, the Company makes routine estimates and judgments in
determining the net realizable value of accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets, and prepaid allowances. Some of
the more significant estimates include the allowance for sales returns, the reserve for inventory valuation estimates
and the expected useful lives of fixed assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Risk The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in accounts with one major financial
institution in the United States of America, in the form of demand deposits, certificates of deposits and money market
accounts. Deposits in this bank may exceed the amounts of federal deposit insurance provided on such deposits. The
Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

cash equivalents. The Company s accounts receivable are primarily derived from credit card purchases from customers and are typically settled
within one to two days.

Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less
when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash At December 31, 2002, February 1, 2003, January 31, 2004 and January 29, 2005, restricted cash
consisted of a certificate of deposit held for the lessor of the Company s former combined home office and distribution
center of $32,000 and is included in prepaid expenses and other. At July 30, 2005, the Company had no restricted cash
balances (unaudited).

Receivables Consist primarily of tenant allowances and credit card transactions that remain outstanding at the end of the
period. The Company does not extend credit to its customers, except through third-party credit cards.

Merchandise Inventories Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost of merchandise
inventories are based upon an average cost methodology and inventory costs are removed on a first-in, first-out.
Merchandise inventories may include items that have been written down to the Company s best estimate of their net
realizable value. The Company s decisions to write-down its merchandise inventories are based on its current rate of
sale, the age of the inventory and other factors. Actual final sales prices to customers may be higher or lower than the
Company s estimated sales prices and could result in a fluctuation in gross profit. Historically, any additional
write-downs have not been significant and the Company does not adjust the historical carrying value of merchandise
inventories upwards based on actual sales experience.

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment Leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed on the straight-line method over the lesser of an
asset s estimated useful life or the lease term (generally 7-10 years), whichever is shorter. Depreciation on furniture,
fixtures and equipment is computed on the straight-line method over five years. Maintenance and repairs are expensed
as incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization of assets sold or otherwise disposed of is
removed from the accounts and the related gain or loss is reported in the statement of operations.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets The Company has adopted SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets, and reviews the carrying value of long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Measurement of the impairment
loss is based on the fair value of the asset, or group of assets. Generally, fair value will be determined using accepted
valuation techniques, such as the present value of expected future cash flows.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107 ( SFAS 107 ), Disclosures about
Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires management to disclose the estimated fair value of certain assets and
liabilities defined by SFAS 107 as financial instruments. Financial instruments are generally defined by SFAS 107 as

cash, evidence of ownership interest in an entity, or a contractual obligation that both conveys to one entity a right to
receive cash or other financial instruments from another entity and imposes on the other entity the obligation to

deliver cash or other financial instruments to the first entity. At January 29, 2005 and all other previous periods

presented herein, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables and other accrued liabilities
approximated fair value because of the short maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying value of the

long-term debt and the revolving credit facility approximate the fair value because these financial instruments have
floating interest rates which reflect current market conditions.
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Deferred Rent, Rent Expense and Tenant Allowances The Company occupies its retail stores and combined home office and
distribution center under operating leases generally with terms of seven to ten years. Some of these leases have early
cancellation clauses, which permit the lease to be terminated if certain sales levels are not met in specific periods.
Some leases contain renewal options for periods ranging from one to five years under substantially the same terms and
conditions as the original leases. Most of the store leases

F-9
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

require payment of a specified minimum rent, plus a contingent rent based on a percentage of the store s net sales in excess of a specified
threshold. Most of the lease agreements have defined escalating rent provisions, which are straight-lined over the term of the related lease,
including any lease renewals deemed to be probable. The Company straight-lines and recognizes its rent expense over the term of the lease, plus
the construction period prior to occupancy of the retail location, using a mid-month convention. For certain locations, the Company receives
cash tenant allowances and has reported these amounts as a deferred liability which is amortized to rent expense over the term of the lease. Also
included in rent expense are payments of real estate taxes, insurance and certain common area and maintenance costs in addition to the future
minimum operating lease payments.

Income Taxes The provision for income taxes includes both current and deferred tax expenses. Current tax expense is the
amount associated with current operating results. The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income
taxes, which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of
temporary difference between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of the assets and liabilities. Valuation

allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax asserts to the amount expected to be realized.

Revenue Recognition Sales are recognized upon purchase by customers at the Company s retail store locations or upon
shipment for orders placed through the Company s website as both title and risk of loss have transferred. The Company
records the sale of gift cards as a current liability and recognizes revenue when a customer redeems a gift card. The
Company reports shipping revenues and costs within sales and cost of goods sold, respectively. The Company accrues
for estimated sales returns by customers based on historical sales return results. Sales return reserves were

insignificant for all periods presented. The Company offers a return policy of generally 30 days.

The Company does not extend credit to customers, except through third-party credit cards. The majority of sales are through credit cards, and
accounts receivable are composed primarily of amounts due from financial institutions related to credit card sales.

The Company records a liability when gift cards are issued and recognizes revenue when gift cards are redeemed. The Company has the right to
assess gift card dormancy fees, but has historically not done so.

The Company presents its merchandise assortment as a percentage of net sales for the following categories: Men s , which includes men s apparel;
Women s , which includes women s apparel; and Accessories and Other , which includes all other merchandise (e.g., hardgoods, accessories,

footwear, etc.). The percentage of net sales for each of the aforementioned categories for fiscal 2002, the one month period ended February 1,

2003, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2004 was as follows:

Fiscal Year One Month Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, February 1, January 31, January 29,
2002 2003 2004 2005
Men s 310 % 26.7 % 29.6 % 321 %
Women s 13.7 14.2 16.4 16.0
Accessories and Other 55.3 59.1 54.0 51.9
Total 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

Cost of Goods Sold Cost of goods sold consists of the cost of merchandise sold to customers, inbound shipping costs,
distribution costs, depreciation on leasehold improvements at the distribution center, buying and merchandising costs
and store occupancy costs. This may not be comparable to the way in which the Company s competitors or other
retailers compute their cost of goods sold.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of store
personnel wages and benefits, administrative staff and infrastructure expenses, store supplies, depreciation on
leasehold improvements at the home office and stores, facility expenses, and
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training, advertising and marketing costs. Credit card fees, insurance and other miscellaneous operating costs are also included in selling, general
and administrative expenses. This may not be comparable to the way in which the Company s competitors or other retailers compute their selling,
general and administrative expenses. The Company does receive insignificant amounts of cash consideration from vendors which have been
reported as a reduction of expenses as the amounts are reimbursements of specific, incremental and identifiable costs of selling the vendors
products.

Advertising The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses are net of sponsorships.
Advertising expense was approximately $322,000, $295,000 and $235,000 in fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and $24,000 for the one month period ended February 1, 2003. Advertising expense for the six month
period ending July 31, 2004 was $25,351 and advertising for the six month period ending July 30, 2005 resulted in net
income of $900.

Net Income per Share Basic net income per common share is computed using the weighted average number of shares
outstanding. Diluted net income per common share is computed using the weighted average number of shares
outstanding adjusted for the incremental shares attributed to outstanding options to purchase common stock.
Incremental shares of 2,034,567, 1,506,595 and 1,633,597 in fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and 1,452,829,
1,489,656 and 819,664 for the one month period ended February 1, 2003, the six months ended July 31, 2004 and the
six months ended July 30, 2005, respectively, were used in the calculation of diluted net income per common share.

Stock Compensation The Company has stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described further in note 7
below. The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation arrangements on the intrinsic value method in
accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion ( APB ) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees and related amendments and interpretations. The Company complies with the disclosure provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 ( SFAS 123 ), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,
which requires fair value recognition for employee stock-based compensation.

If the computed fair values of the awards had been amortized to expense over the vesting period of the awards, pro forma net income (loss) and
net income (loss) per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated in the following table (in thousands, except per share
data):

Fiscal Year One Month Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Ended Ended Ended Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, February 1, January 31, January 29, July 31, July 30,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Net income (loss), as reported $ 5,705 $ (169 ) $ 4475 $ 7,267 $ (439) $ 808
Add: Stock-based compensation expense, as
reported, net of tax 59 49
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair-value-based method,
net of tax (207 ) (17 ) (118 ) (313 ) (51 ) a78 )
Pro forma net income (loss) 5,498 (186 ) 4,357 7,013 (490 ) 679
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic as reported $ 049 $ (0.01) $ 040 $ 0.64 $ (0.04) $ 0.07
Basic pro forma $ 048 $ (0.02) $ 0.39 $ 0.62 $ (0.04) $ 0.06
Diluted as reported $ 042 $ (0.01) $ 035 $ 0.56 $ (0.04) $ 0.06
Diluted pro forma $ 040 $ (0.02) $ 034 $ 0.54 $ (0.04) $ 0.05

Merchandise Risk The Company s success is largely dependent upon its ability to gauge the fashion tastes of its
customers and provide merchandise that satisfies customer demand. Any inability to provide appropriate merchandise
in sufficient quantities in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, operating
results and financial condition.
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Reclassifications Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
year s financial statement presentation. The reclassifications had no effect on shareholders equity or net income.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, Inventory Costs an Amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4. This statement clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and spoilage, requiring
these items be recognized as current-period charges. In addition, this statement requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs
of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this statement are effective for inventory costs
incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005 and will become effective for the Company beginning in fiscal 2006. The effect of
adopting this statement is not expected to be significant to the Company s financial position and results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004) ( FAS
123R ). This statement addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which a company receives employee services in
exchange for the company s equity instruments or liabilities that are based on the fair value of the company s equity securities or may be settled
by the issuance of these securities. SFAS 123R eliminates the ability to account for share-based payments using APB 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees and generally requires that such transactions be accounted for using a fair value method. On April 14, 2005, the Securities
and Exchange Commission announced the adoption of a new rule that delays SFAS 123R compliance.

Under the SEC rule, the provisions of this statement are effective for annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005 and will become effective for
the Company beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company has not yet determined which transaction method it will use to adopt
SFAS 123R. The full impact that the adoption of this statement will have on the Company s financial position and results of operations will be
determined by share-based payments granted in future periods and will increase the compensation expense that would otherwise have been
recognized in accordance with APB 25. In addition, outstanding unvested options will result in additional compensation expense that otherwise
would only have been recognized on a pro-forma basis.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153, Exchanges of Non-Monetary Assets. This statement
refines the measurement of exchanges of non-monetary assets between entities. The provisions of this statement are effective for fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005 and became effective for the Company beginning with the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Historically, the Company
has not transacted significant exchanges of non-monetary assets, but future such exchanges would be accounted for under the standard, when
effective.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.  This
Statement requires retrospective application to prior periods financial statements of changes in accounting principle. The provisions of this
statement become effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The standard dictates that changes in accounting principle that
are a result of a new pronouncement shall be subject to the reporting provisions of that pronouncement if they exist.
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3. Transition Period Comparative Data

As aresult of the change in the Company s fiscal year end there was a one month transition period. The following table presents certain

condensed financial information for the one month ended February 2, 2002 (unaudited) and the one month ended February 1, 2003, respectively.

One Month Ended
February 2, 2002
(unaudited)

(In thousands)

Summarized Statements of Operations

Net sales $ 52831
Cost of goods sold 3,961
Gross margin $ 1,870
Operating profit (loss) $ 170
Net income (loss) $ 161
Summarized Balance Sheets
Assets
Total current assets $ 17,083
Total assets $ 30318
Liabilities and shareholders equity
Total current liabilities $ 15,972
Total liabilities $ 18,241
Total shareholders equity 12,077
Total liabilities and shareholders equity $ 30318
4. Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
Leasehold improvements and equipment consist of the following:
January 31,
2004
(In thousands)
Leasehold improvements and other equipment $ 20,102
Store computer equipment 3,225
Store displays 9,923
Vehicles 53
33,303
Less accumulated depreciation (15,227 )
$ 18,076
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February 1, 2003

$ 6392

4,575

$ 1,817

$ (1%

$ (169

$ 19,646

$ 36,003

$ 20,101

$ 22,036

13,967

$ 36,003
January 29,
2005

$ 29,706

4,179

13,822

53

47,760

(21,141

$ 26,619

)
)

)
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5. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

January 31, January 29,
2004 2005
(In thousands)
Note payable to bank, payable in quarterly installments of $272,000
plus interest at LIBOR (1.155% per annum at January 31, 2004) plus
2%, maturing July 1, 2004 $ 544 $
Less current portion (544 )
$ $

The note payable to bank at January 31, 2004 was collateralized by substantially all the assets of the Company. Additionally, this note payable
contained covenants that required the Company to maintain certain working capital ratios and placed certain restrictions on the declaration and
payment of dividends. The note was paid in full per the terms of the agreement in fiscal 2004.

In May 2003 the Company entered into an agreement for a new revolving credit facility of $20,000,000. The revolving credit facility has a
$7,500,000 sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit with 180 day maximum maturity. The outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit
facility were $300,000 at January 31, 2004. The Company also had open letters of credit of $447,000 at January 31, 2004.

In September 2004 the Company entered into a loan modification agreement to the existing revolving credit facility. The loan modification
agreement reduced certain applicable interest rates and extended the maturity date of the revolving credit facility to July 1, 2006. The borrowing
capacity can be increased to $25.0 million if the Company requests and if the Company is in compliance with certain provisions. There were no
outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility at January 29, 2005. The Company had open letters of credit of $671,000 at

January 29, 2005. The revolving credit facility bears interest at floating rates based on the lower of the prime rate (5.25% at January 29, 2005)
minus a prime margin ranging from 0.75% to 0.10% or the LIBOR rate (2.53% at January 29, 2005) plus a LIBOR margin ranging from 1.40%
to 2.15%, in each case depending on the ratio of the Company s adjusted funded debt (as defined in the loan agreement, as amended) to
EBITDAR (as defined in the loan agreement, as amended). The Company s obligations under the revolving credit facility are secured by almost
all of its personal property, including, among other things, inventory, equipment and fixtures. The Company must reduce the amount of any
outstanding advances under the revolving credit facility to no more than $5.0 million for a period of at least 30 consecutive days each year. The
revolving credit facility also contains financial covenants that require the Company to meet specified financial ratios, including a debt to
earnings ratio, an earnings to interest expense ratio and an inventory to debt ratio. The Company was in compliance with all covenants at
January 29, 2005 and for the year then ended.
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6. Income Taxes

The components of the current deferred tax assets and net long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities) are:

January 31, January 29,
2004 2005
(In thousands)
Current deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Inventory $ 621 $ 784
Employee benefits 124 167
Prepaid expenses 77 ) 92
Charitable Contributions
Total current deferred tax assets 668 859
Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Property and equipment (1,927 ) (3,437
Employee benefits 35
Deferred rent 591 1,891
Total long-term deferred tax liabilities (1,336 ) (1,511
Net deferred tax liability $ (668 ) $ (652
The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are:
Fiscal Year One Month Fiscal Year
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, February 1, January 31,
2002 2003 2004
(In thousands)
Current
Federal $ 837 $ (122) $ 1,526
State 395 371
Total current 1,232 (122 ) 1,897
Deferred
Federal (129 ) 77 740
State 7 ) 6 64
Total deferred (136 ) 83 804
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 1,096 $ (39 ) $ 2,701
F-15

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 29,
2005

$ 3,831
685
4,516

21
5

(16

$ 4,500

)
)
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The reconciliation of the income tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the Company s effective income tax rate is as follows for the
fiscal year ended:

Fiscal Year One Month Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, February 1, January 31, January 29,
2002 2003 2004 2005
Expected U.S. federal income taxes at statutory rates 340 % 340 % 34.0 % 34.0 %
State and local income taxes, net of federal effect 4.3 3.4 3.9
Benefit of Subchapter S election and termination (22.3) 0.9 )
Permanent differences 0.2 0.5
Other 0.1 (14.3) 0.1 )
16.1 % 18.8 % 37.6 % 38.3 %

7. Stock Options

During fiscal 1997, the Company adopted the 1993 Stock Option Plan (the Plan ) to provide for the granting of nonqualified stock options to
executive officers and key employees of the Company as determined by a committee of the Company s board of directors, the 1993 Plan
Committee (the Committee ).

The date of grant, option price, vesting period and other terms specific to options granted under the Plan are determined by the Committee. All
stock options granted under the Plan vest over a fixed period and expire ten years from the date of grant and no additional awards may be made
under the Plan. Prior to fiscal 2004, the option price for all options granted was equal to the fair market value of the Company s common stock at
the date of grant and no stock-based compensation expense was recognized during fiscal 2002, 2003 or the one month ended February 1, 2003.

During fiscal 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stock Option Plan (the 2004 Plan ) to provide for the granting of incentive stock options and
nonqualified stock options to executive officers and key employees of the Company as determined by a committee of the Company s board of
directors, the 2004 Plan Committee. The terms of the 2004 Plan are generally the same as the Plan. The Company has authorized 3,682,793

shares of common stock for issuance under the 2004 Plan. The Company does not plan on making any new stock option grants under the 2004
Plan (unaudited).

During fiscal 2004, the Company issued stock options to certain employees with exercise prices below the fair market value of the Company s
common stock at the date of grant. In accordance with the requirements of APB 25, the Company has recorded stock-based compensation for the
difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair market value of the Company s stock at the grant date. During the fiscal
2004, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of $95,000 related to these options. Stock-based compensation expense is currently
recognized over the vesting period of the awards, generally five to eight years. Excluding the impact of the adoption of FAS 123R, future
compensation expense to be recognized through fiscal 2012 associated with these grants will be $961,000.
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All grants of stock options have been to employees of the Company. There were no stock option grants, exercises, forfeitures or cancellations
during fiscal 2002 or the one month period ended February 1, 2003. The fair values of the options granted under the Plan and the 2004 Plan were
estimated using the minimum-value method with the assumptions from the table below:

Dividend yield

Average risk-free interest rate:
Expected lives Ten years
Expected lives Eight years
Expected lives Five years

The following table summarizes stock option activity:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2002
Weighted-
Average
Number of Exercise
Options Price
Options outstanding at
beginning of period 2,032,977 $ 1.66
Options granted during
the period
Options exercised
during the period (580,149 ) 0.17 )
Options forfeited during
the period
Options outstanding at
end of period 1,452,828 $ 225
Weighted-average fair
value of options granted
Options exercisable 504,536 $ 1.65

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at January 29, 2005:

Exercise Price
$ 046
2.17
3.55
5.21
7.73
Total

F-17

Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, 2004
Weighted-
Average
Number of Exercise
Options Price
1,452,828 $ 225
134,670 5.21
(53,798 ) (3.55 )
1,533,700 $ 247
$ 0.71
672,693 $ 177

Options Outstanding

Number of Options
323,052
591,788
430,391
134,670
375,496
1,855,397

Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, January 29,
2004 2005
Y% %
Y% %
Y% 397 %
3.30 % 3.41 %
Fiscal Year Ended For Six Months Ended
January 29, 2005 July 30, 2005
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Options Price
(Unaudited)
1,533,700 $ 247 1,855,397 $ 3.54
400,119 7.73
(277,069 ) 1.65
(78,422 ) 392 )
1,855,397 $ 3.54 1,578,327 $ 3.87
$ 227
860,057 $ 2.03 698,332 $ 278
Options
Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life Number of Options
2.9 282,670
4.3 369,867
6.6 161,397
8.3 46,123
9.4
860,057
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8. Related Party Transactions

During fiscal 2004, the Company paid $1,000 in fees related to the Transaction that are receivable from the Parent. At January 29, 2005, due to
additional such payments by the Company, the balance was $148,000. This amount is reported in shareholders equity.

During fiscal 2001, the Company advanced $1,500,000 to a shareholder under a note receivable. At December 31, 2001, the outstanding balance
of the note and accrued interest receivable was $1,533,750, and while the interest was paid in cash in fiscal 2002, the note was redeemed as part
of the Transaction.

In fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004 the Company paid Brentwood Private Equity III, LLC a consulting fee of $31,000, $200,000 and $200,000,
respectively, under a Corporate Development and Administrative Services Agreement.

Related party transactions for the six months ended July 30, 2005 (unaudited) The Company paid $1,000 in fees on behalf of its
Parent, resulting in a balance of $149,000, which was forgiven and the Parent was subsequently dissolved in

connection with the Company s initial public offering. This amount was reported in shareholders equity and expensed
to selling, general and administrative expense.

During the six months ended July 30, 2005 and July 31, 2004 (unaudited) the Company paid Brentwood Private Equity III, LLC a consulting fee
of $53,000 and $100,000, respectively, under a Corporate Development and Administrative Services Agreement. This agreement was
subsequently terminated in connection with the initial public offering, resulting in a prorated consulting fee for the six months ended July 30,
2005 of $3,000 compared to the fees per the agreement of $50,000 paid for the six months ended July 31, 2004.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases The Company is committed under operating leases for all of its retail store locations. In addition to minimum
future lease payments, all store leases provide for additional rental payments based on sales, as well as common area
maintenance charges. During fiscal 2004, the Company entered into a lease for a new combined home office and
distribution center under a noncancelable operating lease agreement that expires in July 2012, with two renewal
optons. For leases that have fixed escalation clauses, minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

Rent expense, including common area maintenance and other occupancy costs, was $11,754,000, $13,871,000, $17,136,000 and $919,000 for
fiscal 2002, 2003, 2004 and the one month period ended February 1, 2003, respectively.

Future minimum annual commitments (in thousands) on all leases at January 29, 2005 are as follows:

Retail Home

Stores Office Total
Fiscal 2005 $ 9977 $ 404 $ 10,381
Fiscal 2006 9,871 432 10,303
Fiscal 2007 9,228 467 9,695
Fiscal 2008 8,508 479 8,987
Fiscal 2009 8,376 492 8,868
Thereafter 25,183 982 26,165

$ 71,143 $ 3256 $ 74399

Purchase Commitments The Company had outstanding purchase orders to acquire merchandise from vendors for
approximately $28.1 million at January 29, 2005. These purchases are expected to be financed by cash flows from
operations and the Company s revolving credit facility. The Company has an option to cancel such commitments with
no notice prior to shipment.
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Litigation The Company is involved from time to time in litigation incidental to its business and, from time to time, the
Company may make provisions for potential litigation losses. The Company follows SFAS 5, Accounting for
Contingencies when assessing pending or potential litigation. Management believes, after considering a number of
factors and the nature of the contingencies to which the Company is subject, that the outcome of these contingencies
will not have a material adverse effect upon the results of operations or financial condition of the Company.

Insurance Reserves The Company is responsible for medical insurance claims up to a specified aggregate amount. The
Company maintains a reserve for estimated medical insurance claims based on historical claims experience and other
estimated assumptions. The Company follows SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies when assessing pending or
potential claims.

Employment Agreement The Company has an employment agreement in place with a key employee. The agreement
provides that if the Company terminates the employee s employment without cause or if he terminates his employment
for good reason, the employee could be entitled to continue to receive his base salary up to a maximum commitment

of $315,000.

10. Retirement Savings Plan

The Zumiez Investment Plan is a qualified plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company s 401(k) matching and
profit-sharing contributions are discretionary and are determined annually by the Company. The Company contributed $50,000, $55,000 and
$125,000 to the plan during fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

11. Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net income (loss) per share is
based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding. Common share equivalents included in
the computation represent shares issuable upon assumed exercise of outstanding stock options.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Fiscal Year One Month Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Six Months Six Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, February 1, January 31, January 29, July 31, July 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005
(Unaudited)
Net income (loss) $ 5705 $ (169 ) $ 4475 $ 7267 $ (439 ) $ 808
Weighted average common shares
for basic net income (loss) per
share 11,547,011 11,305,261 11,305,261 11,305,261 11,305,261 12,296,076
Dilutive effect of stock options 2,034,567 1,506,594 1,633,597 819,664
Weighted average common shares
for diluted net income (loss) per
share 13,581,578 11,305,261 12,811,855 12,938,858 11,305,261 13,115,740
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 049 $ (0.01 ) $ 040 $ 064 $  (0.04 ) $ 0.07
Diluted net income (loss) per
share $ 042 $ (0.01 ) $ 035 $ 056 $  (0.04 ) $ 006

For the one month ended February 1, 2003, the dilutive effect of 1,452,829 options were excluded and for the six months ended July 31, 2004
(unaudited) the dilutive effect of 1,489,656 options were excluded from weighted average diluted shares outstanding because the effect was
antidilutive.
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12. Subsequent Events

Stock Split On April 14, 2005, the Company s Board of Directors and shareholders approved an amendment to the
Company s Certificate of Incorporation to effect a 1 for 258.6485 split of the Company s common stock (the Stock
Split ). The Stock Split became effective on April 20, 2005. All reference to shares in the financial statements and the
accompanying notes, including but not limited to the number of shares and per share amounts, unless otherwise noted,
have been adjusted to reflect the Stock Split on a retroactive basis. Previously awarded stock options in the Company s
common stock have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Stock Split.
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